LOS ANGELES COUNTY CHILDREN AND FAMILIES FIRST-PROPOSITION 10 COMMISSION (FIRST 5 LA)

(Amended as of 11/10/21) BYLAWS

ARTICLE I Authority

The Los Angeles County Children and Families First - Proposition 10 Commission ("Commission") was established pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 130110 et seq. ("Children and Families Act") and Chapter 3.72 of the Los Angeles County Code ("Ordinance"). The Commission is also known as "First 5 LA." These Bylaws are adopted as the Operating Procedures of the Commission as required by Los Angeles County Code Section 3.72.070.

ARTICLE II Purpose and Intent

Section I. Purpose

The Los Angeles County Children and Families First - Proposition 10 Commission was established to promote, support and improve the early development of children from the prenatal stage to five years of age. These purposes shall be accomplished through the establishment, institution, coordination and funding of appropriate standards, resources, and integrated, comprehensive, and family-friendly programs emphasizing community awareness, parental involvement, education, nurturing, mental health, child development, child care, social services, health care, health protection, health promotion, disease prevention, prevention of child neglect and abuse, and research.

Section II. Intent

The Commission intends to facilitate the creation and implementation of an integrated, comprehensive, and collaborative system of information and services to enhance optimal early childhood health and development for all children prenatal-5 and their families. This system should function as a network that promotes accessibility to information and effective services. The Commission further intends to emphasize public inclusion and participation and to integrate services in the areas of child safety, childcare, medical, mental health and dental care, including prenatal and preconception, education, early intervention programs and parenting education. The Commission further intends that its activities and services will make clear and measurable contributions to outcomes and goals specified in the Commission's Strategic Plan ("Plan"), as amended and refreshed from time to time. The Commission's compliance with these Bylaws will:

- a. Promote transparency and consistency in Commission decision-making;
- b. Promote coordination, coherence and integration of First 5 LA investments;

- c. Ensure accountability for First 5 LA's revenues, and
- d. Maintain Commission flexibility to respond to significantly changed circumstances and emergencies by authorizing limited exceptions to specified governance guidelines by the affirmative vote of seven (7) of the nine (9) voting members of the Commission, or emergency procurement approvals as specified in the Commission's approved Procurement Policy.

ARTICLE III Commission Composition

Section I. Members

The Commission shall consist of nine voting members appointed by the Board of Supervisors and shall be composed as follows:

- A. The Chair of the Board of Supervisors or a member of the Board of Supervisors designated by the Chair;
- B. Three voting members and one non-voting representative from among the superintendent of schools for the Los Angeles County Office of Education, the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Mental Health, and the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services or, in case of absence, their designated Alternates. These members shall have voting rights on a rotating schedule, whereby three members shall serve as voting members at any given time, while the other shall serve as a non-voting representative. The rotation schedule shall be as set forth in Los Angeles County Code Section 3.72.040(B) or any successor ordinance;
- C. Five members, one nominated by each member of the Board of Supervisors, from the following categories: recipients of project services included in the County Strategic Plan; representatives of local child care resource or referral agencies or local child care coordinating groups; representatives of local organizations for prevention of adverse consequences to children prenatal-to 5 and their families or early intervention for families at risk; representatives of county-wide or community-based education, service, or policy- oriented organizations that have the goal of promoting nurturing and early childhood health and development; representatives of local school districts; and representatives of local medical, pediatric, or obstetric associations or societies.
- D. Each member of the Board of Supervisors may nominate one alternate member to serve in the absence of his/her respective Commission appointee, and to perform the duties and responsibilities of such absent member. Any such alternate shall be from one of the categories described in Section IC.

Section II. Ex-Officio Representatives

The Commission shall request that the Commission for Children and Families, the Inter-Agency

Council on Child Abuse and Neglect, and one non-voting representative from among the superintendent of schools for the Los Angeles County Office of Education, the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Mental Health, or the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services or, in case of absence, their designated Alternates. While the ex-officio representatives will not have voting or other membership rights, they will have the ability to contribute their experience and expertise to the matters considered by the Commission and participate in the work of the Commission in an advisory capacity.

Section III. Terms of Service

Members of the Commission shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors. Terms of office for voting Members shall be as provided in the then-applicable provisions of the Los Angeles County Code.

ARTICLE IV Operating Procedures

Section I. Principal Office

The Commission's principal office is 750 North Alameda Street, Suite 300, Los Angeles, California, 90012, but may be moved to another location if deemed necessary by the Commission.

Section II. Quorum

For the purpose of taking action or conducting business, a quorum of the Commission shall consist of a majority of the appointed voting members (50 percent +1).

Section III. Voting

- A. Each voting member of the Commission shall be entitled to one vote.
- B. All votes are to be recorded and reported in the minutes.
- C. Members may not vote by proxy; alternate members may vote in the absence of their principal.
- D. Ex-officio members may not vote at the Commission meetings. However, ex-officio members may vote on procedural issues, such as referrals to staff, scheduling matters or requests for reports, and as part of Committee assignments.
- E. Approval of a routine action requires an affirmative vote by a majority of Commission members present at a business meeting of the Commission, unless these Bylaws specify otherwise, provided there is a quorum present.

- F. Approval of more significant items, otherwise in compliance with the Commission's Governance Guidelines and the Commission's Procurement Policy, shall require an affirmative vote of an absolute majority of the entire voting membership of the Commission at a meeting of the Commission. The items requiring this absolute majority vote for approval include:
 - Contracts in excess of \$150,000, when Commission approval is required by the Commission's Procurement Policy;
 - Final adoption or amendment of the Strategic Plan, and
 - Election or removal of Commission officers.
- G. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the waiver or amendment of any element of the Commission's Governance Guidelines adopted March 13, 2014, as the same may be amended from time to time, where necessary to respond to significantly changed circumstances or emergencies shall require the affirmative vote of seven (7) of the nine (9) voting members of the Commission.

Section IV. Compensation and Expenses

Members of the Commission, other than the member of the Board of Supervisors and the Superintendent and Directors of the County Departments and their alternates, shall receive as compensation for each Commission, committee or work group meeting attended, the sum of \$150, not to exceed \$7,200 in any 12-month period. Each member's or ex-officio representative's actual and necessary expenses shall be reimbursed for approved travel in the performance of their duties as Commissioners or representatives including transportation, meals and lodging, not to exceed the amounts authorized by Chapter 5.40 of the County Code. In order to be eligible to receive reimbursement, the expenses must have been incurred when representing the Commission at the request of or with prior approval from the Chair or Commission. Requests for reimbursement must be submitted to the Executive Director within 30 days following the incurring of the expense.

ARTICLE V Commission Officers and Election

Section I. Officers

The officers of the Commission shall be a Chair, Vice-Chair, and such other officers as the Commission may designate. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of their respective offices indicated in these by-laws, and such other duties as the Commission may direct from time to time. The Executive Director or her/his designee shall serve as Secretary to the Commission.

Section II. Election

Officers of the Commission shall be chosen annually by an election to be held not later than February, unless an earlier election is necessary because of a vacancy.

Section III. Terms

The term of office for officers of the Commission is one year from the date of election or until removal or resignation, if earlier.

The Commission may remove an officer prior to the expiration of his or her term, as deemed necessary.

ARTICLE VI Duties of the Commission

The Commission shall be responsible for the following primary duties:

A. Statutory Compliance

- a. Implement the goals and objectives of the Children and Families Act and other applicable laws;
- b. Submit its adopted County Strategic Plan, and any subsequent revisions, to the State Children and Families Commission ("State Commission");
- c. Measure the outcomes of County funded programs through the use of applicable, reliable indicators and review that information on a periodic basis as part of the public review of the Strategic Plan;
- d. Conduct at least one public hearing on each annual report of the State Commission, and
- e. Comply with all applicable requirements of Health and Safety Code Section 130140, or any applicable successor statute; as such statutes may be amended from time to time.

B. Strategic Planning

- a. Prepare and adopt an adequate and complete County Strategic Plan in accordance with Section 3.72.080 of the County Code. The Strategic Plan shall be a decisionmaking document that focuses First 5 LA's strategic direction, aligns the organization's efforts and activities, and clarifies its intended impact. To be included in the new Strategic Plan, proposals for initiatives/programs must include an analysis of each of the following criteria:
 - Clearly defined and measurable outcomes and performance metrics.
 - Alignment with Strategic Plan outcomes, objectives, and strategy.
 - A budget and fiscal impact analysis, including a spending projection for at least 5 years.
 - Realistic implementation timeline.
 - Evidence of or potential for effectiveness.

- Evidence of or potential for sustainability of results.
- Evidence of or potential for scalability, if scalability is an intended outcome.

The appropriate Board Committee will review such requests, make findings and provide a recommendation to the full Commission. Prior Strategic Plan initiatives must expire pursuant to their terms or be clearly aligned with the 2020 - 2028 Strategic Plan criteria.

b. Periodically review the Strategic Plan on at least an annual basis, and revise the Strategic Plan as may be necessary or appropriate in accordance with Section 3.72.080 of the County Code, and

C. Fiscal Oversight and Accountability

- a. Prepare and adopt an annual audit and report and conduct at least one public hearing prior to adopting the annual audit and report;
- b. At least annually, review and adopt the next five-year financial plan for the Commission that represents estimated 5-year trends of First 5 LA expenditures and revenues;
- c. Ensure that each First 5 LA contract/grant has an expiration date. Multi-year First 5 LA services-related investments will end pursuant to the time stated in the original procurement or grant award. The Commission is under no obligation to continue funding beyond the initial contract term. Should future requests be forthcoming after the contract term is over, these requests will be evaluated based on the 2020-28 Strategic Plan criteria. Staff will provide to the Commission an annual update each spring on expiring grants and contracts;
- d. Protect First 5 LA assets and provide proper financial oversight including, without limitation, overseeing the preparation of an annual budget, monitoring fund balances, overseeing First 5 LA's investment policy, and ensuring that appropriate financial controls are in place and being followed, and
- e. Provide quarterly reports to the County Board of Supervisors on issues including: contracts, program implementation, accounting and budgeting, outcome measures and any other issues the Board of Supervisors deems appropriate.

D. Governance

- a. Maintain effective governance and oversight, and provide the supports necessary in compliance with Proposition 10 and the Los Angeles County Code to promote the goals and objectives of the organization.
- b. Select the Executive Director and define his or her responsibilities, goals and objectives;
- c. Evaluate the Executive Director's performance annually;

- d. Engage in Commission development, training and periodic, comprehensive selfevaluation to maintain the strength and effectiveness of the Commission;
- e. Establish such ad hoc or standing committees or working groups as are necessary to fulfill the functions of the Commission and accomplish the purposes of the Children and Families Act;
- f. Establish such technical advisory committees as the Commission deems necessary to provide technical and professional expertise and support for any purposes that will be beneficial in accomplishing the purposes of the Children and Families Act;
- g. Adopt policies and procedures that are family-friendly and inclusive to encourage broad participation at Commission meetings, and
- h. Establish, implement, and comply with effective governance structures and guidelines to further the goals of First 5 LA.

ARTICLE VII

Duties of the Chairperson ("Chair") and Vice Chairperson ("Vice Chair")

Section I. Administration

- A. The Commission vests in the Executive Director the responsibility to supervise and direct the work of the Commission staff. The Chair and Members of the Commission shall communicate with the Executive Director or his/her designee as to the administration, work and finances of the Commission. The Executive Director shall report to the Chair and the Commission.
- B. At the direction of the Commission or upon independent decision, the Chair may request Commission members, committees of the Commission or Commission staff to review pending legislation or proposed actions of the State Commission for presentation to the Commission for consideration.
- C. In accordance with the Los Angeles County Ordinance and these Bylaws, the Chair shall approve all Commission matters, including all correspondence on behalf of the Commission, other than matters decided by the Commission as a whole.
- D. All travel on Commission business by Commission members, ex-officio representatives and any expenses for which they may seek reimbursement shall be brought to the attention of the Chair by the Executive Director, and shall be subject to approval by the Executive Director. The Chair, or his or her designee, shall review and approve all requests for reimbursement of travel expenses by the Executive Director.
- E. The Chair shall meet with individual Commission members as appropriate, concerning personal conduct which is in conflict with Commission Bylaws, policies or procedures, including excessive absences, late arrivals or early departures which disrupt meetings.

F. The Secretary or his/her designee shall, as necessary, take minutes of meetings and closed sessions of the Commission, communicate closed session actions and direction to the public or staff, as appropriate or required by law, and review and approve the draft minutes of Commission meetings prior to their consideration by the full Commission.

Section II. Committees

When appropriate and necessary, on his or her own initiative or at the direction of the Commission, the Chair may appoint such ad hoc committees, technical advisory committees or working groups to assist in carrying out the business of the Commission.

Section III. Representation

The Chair, on behalf of the Commission, shall respond to issues from the community, private and public sectors, the Board of Supervisors and its members and the media. The Chair may designate Commission members or the Executive Director to represent the Commission in responding to these issues.

ARTICLE VIII

Duties and Responsibilities of Commission Members

Commission members shall be responsible for and adhere to the following primary duties:

- A. When designated by the Chair (or in the Chair's absence, the Vice Chair), serve as a spokesperson for the Commission, representing the Commission in meetings with public officials of other jurisdictions, the community, or the media. A Commission member representing the Commission in an official capacity should state the Commission's approved policies, procedures, or positions and refrain from stating personal preferences. Expenses incurred when representing the Commission at the request of, or with prior approval from, the Chair or the Commission are reimbursable;
- B. When invited to participate in any forum as a Commission member, Commission members should try to confine their remarks to Commission positions. Other remarks a Commission member may need to make should be identified as personal in nature and not reflective of Commission policy. A participating Commission member should report on his or her participation at the next Commission meeting;
- C. Submit, in advance, all correspondence and/or communications written on behalf of the Commission and/or its committees to the Commission Chair for review and approval;
- D. Regularly attend the Commission's meetings and inform staff in advance if unable to attend a meeting. Unexcused absences from more than 25 percent of Commission or committee meetings, during a 12-month period, shall constitute a violation of duty;

- E. Serve and actively participate in the work of any ad hoc committee or working group to which the Commissioner is appointed.
- F. When serving as a committee chairperson, report to the Chair any matters, which the Commission should be aware of, and recommend action when appropriate;
- G. Inform the Chair of any requests for review or assistance or any complaints, inquiries, or notice of problems, within the purview of the Commission;
- H. Refrain from assigning work to the Commission staff unless approved by the Chair or the Executive Director;
- I. Advise the Commission staff of scheduled vacations and absences;
- J. Provide timely notice to the Chair in writing as soon as practicable if the member plans to resign from the Commission, or if his or her employment or status no longer meets the membership criteria set forth in the Ordinance; and
- K. Participate in the selection and annual evaluation of the Executive Director.

ARTICLE IX Meetings of the Commission

Section I. Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Commission shall be held on the second Thursday of each month at 1:30 p.m. at the Commission's principal office. The Commission may meet by teleconference as permitted by applicable law. The Commission may adjourn a regular meeting to a time and date certain, and the Chair may cancel or continue a meeting in the case of a lack of quorum or a lack of business to be transacted. Either the Chair or a majority of the Commission may call a special meeting of the Commission in the manner provided for under the Brown Act.

Section II. Order of Meetings

- A. The regular meeting agenda shall include: Call to Order; Approval of Minutes; Report of the Chair; Report from the Executive Director; Consent Calendar; Committee Reports; Commission Business; Statements for the Record by Commission Members, Public Comment. The Commission may meet in Closed Session if necessary and permitted by law.
- B. Agenda items requiring Commission action will first be introduced as information items at a full Commission meeting prior to action at a subsequent meeting. Staff presentations will be provided first and then public comment received thereafter in the first meeting, with referral to appropriate Committee(s) for further discussion if necessary. Non-substantive issues will return thereafter to the full Commission on the Consent calendar; substantive issues will be placed separately on an agenda for further Commission discussion prior to action. Public comment will be incorporated for both Consent and non-Consent action items as requested.

- C. Matters which do not appear on the posted agenda may be acted upon by the Commission at a meeting if by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the members or, if less than two thirds (2/3) of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those present, the Commission determines that there is a need for immediate action that cannot reasonably wait until the next scheduled meeting and that the need for action came to the attention of the Commission after the agenda was posted. If a specific matter proposed to be added to an agenda under this subsection has not previously been presented to the Commission as an information item, the Commission must also first vote to waive the presentation requirement by the affirmative vote of 7 of the 9 voting members.
- D. Minutes of the previous meeting and agenda of the upcoming meeting should be sent to Commission members no later than three (3) business days before the upcoming meeting. Whenever possible, an explanation of agenda items shall accompany the notification. Commission members who are absent shall receive all material distributed at missed meetings.
- E. All meetings shall be open and public.
 - 1. Any person may request to be heard on an agenda item before it is acted upon.
 - 2. No person shall address the Commission until he or she has first been recognized by the Chair. All persons addressing the Commission shall be asked to give their names and affiliations for the record.
 - 3. Notwithstanding any other provision, members of the public shall have the right to address the Commission on items of interest within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission. Prior to the public comment, the Chair may, at his or her discretion, announce the total amount of time available for comment and, where appropriate, may set limits on the time to be spent on particular issues and on the amount of time available to each speaker.
 - 4. The Chair is responsible for meeting agendas. The Commission members may request the Chair place an item on the agenda and the Executive Director may place items on the agenda in consultation with the Chair. The Commission may formally act to place an item on the agenda.
 - 5. Audio recordings of all the Commissions' Regular Meetings are for the purpose of preparing minutes and may be disposed of thereafter. At the direction of the Commission or the Chair, specific recordings may be retained for a longer period.

ARTICLE X Committees

Section I. Formation of Committees

The Commission may establish one or more standing committee(s), and the Chair may appoint one or more ad hoc committee(s), working groups and/or technical advisory committee(s) to provide technical and professional expertise and support for any purposes that will be beneficial in

accomplishing the purposes of the Act. The Commission may define and limit the scope and authority of standing committee(s), and establish rules of operation for the committee(s). The Chair may define and limit the scope and authority of ad hoc committee(s) and working groups, and establish rules of operation for these committee(s) and working groups. Each committee shall meet and shall make recommendations and reports as deemed necessary or appropriate by the Commission. In the absence of the committee chairperson, the Vice Chair shall conduct routine business matters and meetings of the committee.

Section II. Committee Structure/Authority

A. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall be a standing Committee of the Commission. Membership of the Executive Committee shall be comprised of the Chair of the Program & Planning Committee, two other voting members of the Commission appointed each year by the Chair, and the Vice Chair of the Commission. The Vice Chair shall serve as the Chair of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall meet in open and public sessions in compliance with the Brown Act except where a closed session is warranted and called according to applicable law. The duties of the Executive Committee shall include the review of the draft annual operating budget, supervising and providing oversight of the annual audit of the Commission, review of the draft annual report to the State Commission, advice and feedback to the Executive Director regarding operational issues including, but not limited to:

- contract compliance
- quality assurance
- evaluation
- policy advocacy
- personnel and compensation issues

In addition, the Executive Committee shall draft the annual evaluation of the Executive Director for consideration and action by the full Commission, supervise any Commission self-assessment process initiated by the full-Commission and perform any other function delegated to it by the full Commission or the Chair. The term of office on the Executive Committee shall be for one (1) calendar year. No person shall serve as Chair of the Executive Committee for more than four (4) consecutive terms, although this limit shall apply only to consecutive terms on the Committee, and shall not limit subsequent, non-consecutive terms.

The Executive Committee shall not make binding decisions that are decisions of the Commission under applicable law and shall periodically report its activities to the full Commission. Minutes of Executive Committee meetings shall be kept and distributed to all members of the Commission.

B. Program and Planning Committee

The Program and Planning Committee shall be a standing Committee of the Commission to serve as the forum for Commissioners, staff and the public to engage and consider program, policy, evaluation and fiscal recommendations for future initiative development and implementation in a study session format. The Planning Committee shall meet in open and public sessions in compliance with the Brown Act except where a closed session is warranted and called according to applicable law. Recommendations and feedback from Planning Committee meetings shall be used to inform design and evaluation of programs and initiatives and contribute towards the strategic plan development of First 5 LA. In addition, new ideas and concepts for future funding and projects may be introduced at the Planning Committee. The Commission Chair shall appoint a member in January of each year to serve as the Committee Chair, and four other members of the Commission to serve as members of the Committee, although any Commissioner, whether voting or *ex-officio*, may attend and participate in meetings of the Planning Committee. Membership on the Committee is open to all Members of the Commission. In the absence of the Committee Chair, another member of the Committee designated by the Chair shall serve as Committee Chair.

The jurisdiction of the Planning Committee shall be limited to providing original ideas as well as feedback and recommendations to staff and/or the Commission regarding future actions of the Commission. No binding action of the Commission shall be taken at any Committee meeting. In-person Attendance by three (3) members of the Committee at a noticed meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of Committee business.

Regular meetings of the Planning Committee shall be held each month unless cancelled or postponed by the Committee Chair or the Executive Director for lack of a quorum or lack of business to be transacted. Special meetings of the full Commission may be held jointly with the Program and Planning Committee at the discretion of the Chair or the Executive Director.

C. Budget and Finance Committee

The Budget and Finance Committee shall be a standing Committee of the Commission. The Commission Chair shall appoint a member each year to serve as the Committee Chair, and three other voting members of the Commission to serve as members of the Committee. The Budget and Finance Committee shall oversee the effectiveness of the annual audit process and assist in maintaining the integrity of internal control and financial reporting. The Budget and Finance Committee shall provide feedback and advice to the Executive Director regarding the following budget and fiscal tasks:

- Review draft annual business plan and proposed budgets.
- Review proposed fiscal policies and procedures.
- Review proposed scopes of work for annual audits.
- Ensure that required annual audits occur and review audit reports.
- Review audited financial statements.
- Other tasks delegated to the Committee by the full Commission, the Executive Committee, or as requested by the Executive Director.

The term of office on the Budget and Finance Committee shall be for one (1) calendar year. The Budget and Finance Committee shall meet in open and public sessions in compliance with the Brown Act except where a closed session is warranted and called according to applicable law. The Budget and Finance Committee shall not make binding decisions that are decisions of the Commission under applicable law and shall periodically report its activities to the full Commission. Minutes of the Budget and Finance Committee meetings shall be kept and distributed to all members of the Commission.

Section III. Committee Purpose and Scope of Authority

The status (standing or *ad hoc*), purpose and authority of committees shall be determined by the Commission at the time they are formed. However, the Commission may modify a committee's status,

purpose or authority at any time.

A committee may act within the delegated authority without further approval by the Commission. However, as provided for under Article VIII, no committee or committee members shall make or issue policy statements, recommendations, or media releases without prior approval of the Commission. Further, any committee activity which implies action by the Commission or is outside the committee's delegated authority is not permitted without specific Commission approval.

Following the Commission's action establishing a committee, the Executive Director shall provide the committee with a copy of its status, purpose and authority from the Commission minutes, and shall be responsible for providing staff support to the committee.

ARTICLE XI Amendments

Notice of a proposed amendment to these Bylaws shall be given to each member of the Commission at least 21 days prior to the meeting at which it will be considered. Approval of amendments requires an affirmative vote of seven (7) of the nine (9) voting members of the Commission.